
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
Governance and Human Resources 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 
 
 

AGENDA FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, 
which will be held in Committee Room 4, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 1 February 2016 at 
7.00 pm. 
 
 
John Lynch 
Head of Democratic Services 
 
 

Enquiries to : Zoe Crane 

Tel : 020 7527 3044 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 22 January 2016 

 
 
Membership Substitute Members 
 
Councillor James Court (Chair) 
Councillor Diarmaid Ward (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Theresa Debono 
Councillor Gary Doolan 
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  MBE 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Clare Jeapes 
Councillor Caroline Russell 
Councillor Marian Spall 
 

Councillor Alex Diner 
Councillor Jenny Kay 
Councillor Alice Perry 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
 

 
Quorum is 4 members of the Sub-Committee 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 

 

A.  

 
Formal Matters 
 

Pages 
 

1.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 
 

2.  Declarations of Substitute Members 
 

 
 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and 
the council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e)  Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 

 

4.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

1 - 8 
 

5.  Public Questions 
 

 
 

6.  Chair's Report 
 

 
 

B.  

 
Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Pages 
 

1.  CCTV Scrutiny Review - Witness Evidence 
 

Verbal 
Report 
 



 
 
 

2.  Smart Cities Scrutiny Review - Witness Evidence 
 

Verbal 
Report 
 

3.  Community Energy Scrutiny Review - Final Report 
 

9 - 26 
 

4.  Work Programme 
 

27 - 28 
 

C.  

 
Urgent non-exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgent by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

D.  

 
Exclusion of press and public 
 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the agenda, 
it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within 
the terms of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the Constitution and, 
if so, whether to exclude the press and public during discussion thereof. 

 

E.  

 
Confidential/exempt items 
 

 

F.  

 
Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 

The next meeting of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee will be on 1 March 
2016



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
 

Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee held at 
Committee Room 5, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on  11 January 2016 at 7.30 pm. 

 
 

Present: Councillors: James Court (Chair), Theresa Debono, Mouna 
Hamitouche, Gary Heather, Clare Jeapes, Caroline 
Russell and David Poyser (Substitute) (In place of 
Spall) 

 
 

Councillor James Court in the Chair 
 

 

1 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A1) 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Marian Spall and Diarmaid Ward. 
 

2 DECLARATIONS OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A2) 
Councillor David Poyser substituted for Councillor Marian Spall. 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Item A3) 
None. 
 

4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A4) 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee meetings on 14 
July and 7 September 2015 be confirmed as an accurate record of proceedings and the 
Chair be authorised to sign them. 
 

5 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (Item A5) 
Public questions would be taken during the relevant agenda items. 
 

6 CHAIR'S REPORT (Item A6) 
There was no chair’s report. 
 

7 CCTV SCRUTINY REVIEW - WITNESS EVIDENCE (Item B1) 
Daniel Tomey, Concierge Service Manager gave witness evidence. 
 
In the presentation and discussion the following points were made: 

 In the last five years there had been a change of focus in the concierge service. The 
monitoring of CCTV in the borough and communications had been improved, 
concierges had been made responsible for their cameras, all housing cameras were 
networked, office upgrades were undertaken, performance indicators were put in 
place and there was a focus on staff training. In this time the CCTV contract ended 
and the service was insourced. 

 Next steps included undertaking a consultation on a restructure, considering how the 
service engaged with residents which would include increasing the number of 
electronic noticeboards, more training for staff on anti-social behaviour legislation 
and information sharing, ensuring all capacity was used, considering the use of 
technology e.g. movement sensors which would mean not all camera footage would 

Page 1

Agenda Item A4



Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

2 
 

have to be shown on screens at one time, improving three of the offices and 
improving signage visibility. 

 The Housing CCTV Service had over 1000 cameras and 12 concierge sites. 2 of the 
concierge sites were managed by  tenant management organisations (TMOs) and 
10 were managed by the council. They were open between 16-24 hours a day. 
There were 33 estates. There were 6 roof access systems and these included 11 
cameras. There were also new build video entry systems in place. 

 In terms of monitored CCTV, (Security Industry Authority) SIA licensed officers 
actively viewed live camera streams. Complimentary systems such as PA, intercom 
and access control were used and officers undertook investigating and reporting. 
This included making statements and attending court, calling the emergency 
services or Anti Social Behaviour team etc when appropriate and writing reports to 
the relevant council teams. 

 Unmonitored CCTV was logged into each day by staff to ensure the cameras were 
working. If an incident was reported, the CCTV footage was obtained and sent to the 
police where appropriate. 

 CCTV could be a deterrent for a short time but to be effective it required monitoring, 
immediate action, information sharing and third party action. The number, location 
and quality of cameras was important as was lighting. It was also important to work 
closely with partners, and have visible cameras, signage and the concierge visible. 

 Customer satisfaction surveys had indicated that 87.5% of respondents considered 
the service provided to be good or very good, 88% of respondents were satisfied 
that the concierge service provided value for money and 94% of respondents 
considered that the introduction of the concierge service had reduced the number of 
incidents or crime and anti social behaviour in their block/estate. 

 Performance monitoring included monitoring anti social behaviour, crime reports per 
office and per person, the number of incidents, where and when they occurred and 
the number of arrests as a consequence of concierge actions. 

 One in five perpetrators were identified from CCTV. 

 Concierge staff built relationships with residents e.g. they took in parcels for 
residents and arranged repairs where necessary. They were often able to identify 
those involved in incidents using CCTV footage. 

 The sites managed by TMOs received the same funding as the council run sites did. 
They had chosen to run the sites themselves so the council did not usually get 
involved with their management. 

 
RESOLVED: 
That the evidence be noted. 
 

8 SMART CITIES SCRUTINY REVIEW - WITNESS EVIDENCE (Item B2) 
Trevor Gibson, from Opportunities Peterborough gave a presentation on Peterborough 
DNA, part of the Future Cities Programme. 
 
In the presentation and discussion the following points were made: 

 A Smart City was “the effective integration of physical, digital and human systems in 
the built environment to deliver a sustainable, prosperous and inclusive future for its 
citizens”.(BSI PAS 181) 

 “A smart city dramatically increases the pace at which it improves its sustainability 
and resilience by fundamentally improving how it engages society, how it applies 
collaborative leadership methods, how it works across disciplines and city systems, 
and how it uses data and integrated technologies, in order to provide better services 
and quality of life to those in and involved with the city (residents, businesses, 
visitors)”. (ISO June 2015) 

Page 2



Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

3 
 

 Peterborough was the UK’s second fastest growing city. It had a population of over 
188,400 people. 

 Peterborough was one of four cities which received funding from the Technology 
Strategy Board to develop and test ideas for how smart, future-proofed cites could 
work. The project was delivered by Opportunity Peterborough and Peterborough 
City Council. It received £3million to deliver a project over 3 years. 

 The principles of the project were to focus on innovation, sustainability and growth, 
to provide a catalyst to change mind-sets towards an efficient and sustainable urban 
future and act as an enabler to delivering the city’s vision.  

 Transparency, participation, empowerment, collaboration, engagement and 
openness were important. 

 A requirement of the funding was that projects should be replicable and scalable. 

 Peterborough was actively involved in national Smart City thinking and standards 
development and applying PAS 181 (the Smart City Framework) to systematically 
approach the challenge from strategy through to implementation. 

 Key Initiatives were 1) Digital Peterborough – having open data and becoming the 
first gigabit city with superfast broadband for businesses and residents; 2) 
Brainwave – a platform to facilitate immediate match-making between innovators 
and challenges; 3) Circular Peterborough – working demonstration projects were 
developed to improve resource efficiency; 4) Developing Skills for our Future 
through the Peterborough Graduate Scheme, bursaries and Smart Suppers in which 
young people pitched their solutions to city challenges and one was chosen and its 
development supported. 

 The Smart City Leadership Programme was developed in partnership with BSI and 
Urban DNA Ltd. It was built around the PAS 181 Smart City Framework. It was 
aimed at increasing the personal and collective knowledge of city leaders about the 
need for, and possibilities arising from, a smart city approach. It established the 
foundations to increase the pace at which cities responded to the Smart City 
opportunity. 

 Standards Based Assessment engaged city leadership in a simple assessment 
process (personal or small groups) that provided a snapshot of their city’s current 
state of ‘smartness’. It helped to reposition ‘standards’ in the eyes of city leaders. It 
directly related to the PAS 181 framework and added rapid value to the Smart City 
standards. The assessment approach was now included in the BSI Smart Cities 
Overview guide, PD8100:2015. 

 In conclusion, the smart city approach should accelerate the pace of change in 
addressing city challenges, framework guidance could help inform each area’s 
approach, there was no Smart City without Smart City leadership and engagement, 
collaboration and partnerships were the key starting point – Smart Cities was not 
just about technology or investing significant resources. 

 Peterborough was 2 ½ years into its Smart Cities work so was in the early stages of 
seeing benefits. It would be another 2-3 years before tangible benefits would be 
seen.  

 It was hoped the quality of services would increase at the same time as costs 
decreased. 

 It was suggested that Islington Council was already be doing Smart Cities work but 
might not see it as such. This work could be used as a catalyst to learn across the 
wider remit of the council. 

 Smart Champions in the council could help to promote Smart Cities. Leadership and 
support from management was critical. 

 Peterborough was going to put sensors in the homes of vulnerable people who 
received social care in order to monitor temperature and movement. In addition 25 
weather stations were being installed in schools. The data would be connected so 
that when temperatures were recorded as extreme, this would trigger support where 

Page 3



Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

4 
 

necessary. It was anticipated that this project could build partnerships in the 
community, improve the quality of service and result in a corresponding reduction in 
the cost of service. 

 There had been few problems with the installation of the super broadband other than 
many of the main roads being dug up. The broadband was working effectively and 
many businesses had relocated to where the superfast broadband was in place. The 
council had installed the superfast broadband in conjunction with City Fibre who had 
undertaken the work in a number of cities. 

 The Brainwave platform had not been used as much as expected and therefore 
consideration would be given to how it could be promoted. 

 
 
Matthew Homer, Waste Strategy Manager, gave a presentation on Smart Cities and 
Recycling. In the presentation and discussion the following points were made: 
 

 Smart recycling measures improved efficiency and improved service. 

 Recycling and waste sites were currently emptied on a regular weekly schedule 
irrespective of how full they were. Bins filled at different rates at different times of the 
year so a regular schedule was not always possible. Visiting a half empty bin was 
twice as expensive as visiting a full bin.  

 Dynamic scheduling meant emptying a bin when it needed to be emptied and finding 
the best route from site to site. This resulted in efficient collections, better customer 
service and improved monitoring. 

 A bin sensors trial was taking place. The sensors were fitted to recycling bins on one 
of the rounds. These measured hourly fill levels and reported back to a database. 
The sensors advised officers when each bin was full and also predicted when the 
bin would be full. 

 Commercial bins and wheelie bins were currently excluded. 

 Prison bins had been excluded pending prison security checks on the system. 

 Trial smart plans would be undertaken. 

 Potential uses for sensors were in the remaining recycling sites, communal waste 
bins, skips, grit bins and litter bins. 

 Big Belly bins were litter bins with inbuilt sensors. They provided fill data and alerts.  

 The Clean Islington App was a mobile app which enabled residents to easily report 
issues to the council. It was a good example of using mobile technology to improve 
services for residents. It was possible that in time this could be expanded to report 
issues to other services. 

 Potential opportunities were not in place yet but could include 1) the digitalisation of 
services e.g. digital back office systems, in cab devices for front line staff and 
vehicle technology (GPS tracking, bin weighing and cameras); 2) management and 
efficient services e.g. real time dynamic routing, GPS tracking, service productivity, 
resource allocation, reduced administration and health and safety implications; 3) 
customer and better services e.g. messaging to crews, better customer service 
information, more use of the web and phone app. 

 Overall, a smart recycling and refuse service would provide a more efficient and 
better service. 

 Opportunity Peterborough had six members in the team; three of which were part 
time. It was well integrated with the council. 
 

RESOLVED:  
That the evidence be noted. 
 

9 EXECUTIVE MEMBER PRESENTATION ON PARKING CONSULTATION (Item B3) 

Page 4



Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

5 
 

Councillor Claudia Webbe, Executive Member for Environment and Transport gave a 
presentation on the Controlled Parking Zone Review. 
 
In the presentation and discussion the following points were made: 

 Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) were introduced to discourage commuter parking 
and manage parking demand. 

 No reviews of CPZs had been undertaken since 2007. Parking needs had changed 
since then and new pressures had put a strain on the council’s existing on-street 
parking places. 

 The council had identified five areas to review current parking controls aimed at 
trying to make it easier for residents to park near to their homes. These areas were 
1) Stadium control area, 2) Angel, 3) Finsbury Square and Farringdon Station area, 
4) Whittington Hospital area and 5) Archway regeneration area. 

 The proposed changes aimed to benefit resident permit holders by providing 
additional protection for parking, without any extra cost or action needed from them. 

 There was a significant level of engagement and response rates with over 11,000 
responses. 

 When assessing the total number of responses received, it appeared there was not 
overall support from the individual areas. However, when analysing the returns from 
those who actually lived/worked in the Whittington Hospital area, (Zone K), there 
was overwhelming support for the proposals. In addition, there was a slight majority 
in favour from those who lived/worked in the Finsbury area (Zone C). 

 Zones K and C showed support for the proposals from those directly affected by 
them. In addition, Zones K and C had very high parking stress for resident permit 
holders. 

 In response to a question from a member, Councillor Webbe stated that it was not 
known how many of the respondents were car owners as the consultation did not 
differentiate between those who owned a car and those who did not. It sought to 
obtain the views of all those affected by the CPZs. 

 In response to concern about some match times not coinciding with CPZ hours, 
Councillor Webbe advised that the council had very little control over match times. 
Generally they fell within the CPZ hours but on rare occasions they did not. The 
council sought to encourage those setting match times to consider the impact on 
Islington.  

 There was a long term vision to look at increasing the use of digital parking. If this 
took place, access issues and paper alternatives would be considered. E-visitor 
vouchers for Zones K and C would be introduced this year. 

 
RESOLVED: 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

10 RECYCLING (Item B4) 
Matthew Homer, Waste Strategy Manager, gave a presentation on the Food and Garden 
Waste Recycling Pilot. In the presentation and discussion the following points were made: 
 

 Currently there were collection crews for dry recycling, green and kitchen waste and 
other crews that collected rubbish from doorstep properties. 

 The concept was to replace the kitchen waste collection service with on street 
‘smart’ bins and provide a green waste collection service upon request (at a charge) 
or from communal points. These measures would reduce the number of crews and 
vehicles by collecting dry recycling and rubbish in the same vehicle. Food waste 
door-to-door take up was only about 25%-30%. 

 The pilot area was mainly in Tollington ward. The pilot was launched on 15 June and 
lasted for three months. The area covered 2,000 households and there were 13 food 

Page 5



Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

6 
 

waste sites and 6 garden waste sites. The garden waste sites were located on 
paved areas adjacent to parks. The food bins were co-located with the waste bins or 
located on the pavement. 

 Consideration had been given to accessibility to the food waste bins. Some people 
had to walk further than others to their nearest bin. Travel routes had been 
considered. 

 The communal food bins were smart bins with sensors to notify officers when they 
were full. 

 About 5% of pilot households contacted the council with concerns, primarily that 
they thought it would affect recycling. As the pilot proceeded, the correspondence 
reduced. Prior to the start of the pilot there had been complaints from people 
concerned the food waste bins would cause a hygiene problem. However there had 
been no complaints since the start of the pilot. 

 For those with mobility issues, the assisted collection service currently offered would 
be extended to include garden waste. 

 The design of the food bin was very important. Factors to consider included 
aesthetics, usability, size and manual handling. 

 Contamination had been manageable. 

 The recycling rate had not been significantly affected and similar tonnages of 
recycling material had been collected. 

 The next steps would be a final review of resource requirements for door to door 
collections and servicing communal food and garden waste sites; a decision was yet 
to be made regarding implementation and timescale; equalities implications would 
be reviewed and consideration would be given to container design, route 
optimisation, communication and implementation. 

 At the moment split body vehicles collected 60% residual waste and 40% recycling. 
The compartments could be reversed in the future if the proportion of recycling 
increased to levels greater than that of the residual waste. 

 In response to a question from a member of the public, the officer stated that there 
had been more detailed analysis than had been shown in the presentation. 
Weighbridge data had been compared and showed there was ot a significant 
increase or decrease on the pilot round compared with the other five areas. 

 
RESOLVED:  
That the presentation be noted. 
 

11 SOLAR PANEL REPORT (Item B5) 

 Councillor O’Sullivan presented the report of the solar panel task and finish group 
which had been set up to look at the feasibility of putting solar panels on council 
owned property. A recent change in the feed in tariff meant schemes that would 
have been viable, were no longer viable. 

 Scaffolding was a significant cost in installing solar panels on roofs. Therefore 
installing solar panels when scaffolding was in place for other works would reduce 
costs. Alternatively some roof spaces could be accessed from inside buildings and 
the technology for installing solar panels had changed so this meant scaffolding was 
not always necessary. 

 Solar panels had been installed on the Waste Recycling Centre, the Tennis Centre, 
the Sobell Leisure Centre and 222 Upper Street and this was reducing the council’s 
electricity bills. 

 Solar panels had been installed on some school roofs. 

 The council now had a model set up so it was possible to monitor the figures and 
ascertain when schemes became viable. 

Page 6



Environment and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee -  11 January 2016 
 

7 
 

 It would not be possible to put solar panels of the blocks of partners until the 
contracts with partners ended. 480 would end by 2022 and there were a further 
2000 that would not end until 2032. 

 A member referred to a pilot being undertaken in Camden using battery powered 
solar panels. Officers would look into this. 

 A member of the public requested that the figures in Figure 2 be updated. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

12 WORK PROGRAMME 2015/16 (Item B6) 
RESOLVED: 
1) That the work programme be noted. 
2) That future meetings of the committee start at 7pm. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 10.15 pm 
 
 
 
CHAIR 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Community Energy Scrutiny Review 
 

 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND 
REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

London Borough of Islington 
February 2016 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item B3



 

2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Community Energy Scrutiny Review 
 
Aim 
To explore and understand the community energy options available for Islington, their respective 
opportunities and issues and make recommendations on their relevance for the borough. 
 
Evidence 
The review ran from October 2014 until January 2016 and evidence was received from a variety of 
sources: 
 
1.  Presentations from witnesses – Fiona Booth, Head of Community Energy, Department of 

Energy and Climate Change (DECC), Reg Platt, Senior Partnerships Manager for OVO 
Communities at OVO Energy, Agamemnon Otero, Repowering London and Oliver 
Hombersley, Senior Sustainability and Climate Change Officer, Hackney Council, Gail 
Scholes, Head of Energy, Nottingham City Council and Robert Purdon, Contracts Manager, 
Nottingham City Council. 

 
2.  Presentations from council officers – Lucy Padfield, Energy Services Manager, Andrew  

Ford, Energy Advice Manager 
 
3.   Written evidence – Jenny Coles, Low Carbon City Officer, Plymouth City Council, the final 

report of the Solar Panel Task and Finish Group 
 
Main Findings 
1. The Committee were advised that Community Energy had emerged relatively recently as a 

catch-all for a broad range of  energy projects and schemes which benefited and involved the 
community. A community could be an individual school, housing estate or ward, or group of 
people with a similar interest. 

 
2. In the Department of Energy and Climate Change’s (DECC) Community Energy Strategy, 

community energy was defined as “community projects or initiatives focused on the four 
strands of reducing energy use, managing energy better, generating energy or purchasing 
energy. This included communities of place and communities of interest. These projects or 
initiatives shared an emphasis on community ownership, leadership or control where the 
community benefited. It referred to all activities encompassed by the above definition and 
also considered shared ownership or joint ventures where benefits were shared by the 
community. This included activities based on formal community ownership models such as 
co-operatives, social enterprises, community charities, development trusts and community 
interest companies, as well as projects without these formal structures.” 

 
3. Energy schemes were generally carried out in line with the energy hierarchy i.e. firstly, 

reducing energy; secondly, insulating homes; and thirdly, generating energy. The most 
energy efficient was council housing, followed by social housing, then owner occupied 
housing and then private rented housing. Most council housing was flats which were 
generally more energy efficient than houses due to there being fewer roofs. 

 
4. The Community Energy Strategy was launched on 27 January 2014. It was the UK’s first 
 ever Community Energy Strategy. It aimed to enable anyone who wanted to get involved 
 with generation, managing, purchasing or reducing energy to do so. 
 
5. Repowering was a not-for-profit co-operative which specialised in co-producing community 

owned renewable energy, mentoring and fuel poverty. It was a community benefit society 

Page 10



 

3 

which delivered social outcomes and it was registered with the Financial Conduct Authority. 
It had undertaken work in Hackney and Lambeth. Intermediaries did not generate energy so 
they had to buy it. Repower could work with intermediaries to provide energy. 

 
6. Repowering work included: 

- reducing CO2 emissions by generating decentralised low-carbon energy 

- tackling fuel poverty and educating residents about energy efficiency 

- promoting local leadership through community engagement and ownership 

- providing opportunities for local and responsible financial investment 
- creating training, internships and employment opportunities for local people 

- encouraging behaviour change 

 
7. Plymouth Energy Community was a cooperative formed in 2013. It was owned and run by its 

members. It aimed to negotiate a better price for energy for local people; address the 
challenges of fuel poverty, including for those on the lowest incomes; increase renewable 
energy in Plymouth; provide advice on energy issues; and reinvest its profits locally. 

 
8. Plymouth Energy Community aimed to get the best deal through a group switch. Work was 

done with energy suppliers to achieve the best deal for customers. All participants were 
offered the best deal for them individually. The process was managed by a broker who was 
independently assessed for ethics and transparency. Beneficial offers were provided for all 
meters, including prepayment meter users and support was provided for people in debt. 

 
9. Nottingham had a long history in municipal energy. It had a district heating scheme in the 

1970s and was now one of the more energy sufficient cities with high local generation. There 
was large scale photovoltaic solar installation with 2,300 homes equipped with solar panels 
over the last three years. The council paid for, installed and maintained the solar panels and 
retained the feed-in tariff with the residents getting electricity. The scheme included both 
social housing and private sector housing. 

 
10. Nottingham City Council would be extending the solar panel scheme to 3,000 additional 

homes from 2015. Once this was complete, 5,300 out of approximately 150,000 homes in the 
city would have solar panels. Whereas the feed-in tariff for the first 2,300 homes had been 
secured when it was at the highest rate, the feed-in tariff for the next 3,000 homes would be at 
the lower rate. Nottingham City Council had set up an in-house installation team of accredited 
installers. This reduced costs and created jobs. Most of the homes with solar panels were 
three bedroom semi-detached houses. Lower income areas were targeted. The first solar 
panel scheme in Nottingham outperformed by £120,000 per year and the additional money 
went into the council’s general fund.  

 
11. To reduce fuel poverty, Nottingham City Council set up a fully licensed energy company by 

buying a pre-accredited licensed company. This was quicker to set up than if the council set 
up the company itself. The council had approved the first year’s operating costs of £11 million. 
The company had to use the national grid and pay transmission and distribution costs as it 
only had one block with private wire and extending this would be too expensive. The cost 
model showed that Nottingham’s energy company was likely to be one of the cheapest 
suppliers on the market. Nottingham had found a meter asset provider who would enable the 
council to rent or pay for the use of smart meters and a smart meter pre-payment system 
would be put in place. 

 
12. The committee heard that the energy supply market was transforming. In 1997 the ‘Big Six’ 

energy suppliers shared almost 100% of the market, In Autumn 2014, independent suppliers 
had a 9% market share and the Citibank prediction was for independent suppliers to have a 
30% share of the market by 2020. Councils could use collective switching to reduce energy 
bills in their borough. Approximately two thirds of households did not switch and often 

Page 11



 

4 

overpaid significantly when compared with the cheapest prices. Many of these householders 
were on low incomes and were vulnerable and often they did not switch as they had a mistrust 
of energy companies and/or did not know how to switch. Local authorities could reach these 
customers because they were trusted and could engage people through unique channels. 
Many Islington residents could save up to £300 by switching and customers who used 
prepayment meters could also save. 

 
13. It was suggested that if local councils became energy suppliers this could ensure people and 

businesses paid a fair price for their energy; it could integrate with other energy activities (e.g. 
energy efficiency, renewable generation and community energy) and maximise their value and 
it could be self-financing and potentially income generating. 

 
14. Councils could become energy suppliers using an intermediary such as OVO’s supply licence 

and back office functions. The intermediary would act as a platform and councils could choose 
to migrate from the platform to have a full supply licence. OVO advised that they could provide 
a supply licence and provide services such as customer service and a billing service and the 
council’s responsibilities would include setting the price, designing the tariff and acquiring 
customers. All customer facing services could have council or partner branding or be co-
branded. OVO services could be provided at cost plus a 3% margin and there would be no set 
up costs. Operational costs were fixed but the cost of energy fluctuated so the tariff could be 
changed at a tariff review meeting each month or could be changed less regularly i.e. up to 
every three months. 

 
15. OVO planned to be at the forefront of the move to smart meters which provided better, real-

time data, smarter homes and enabled more customer engagement as well as flexible 
payments. OVO would remove prepayment meters from those who signed up and were 
currently using them and replace these with smart meters. These could be used in a similar 
way to prepayment meters or could be topped up using a phone if the resident had set up a 
link to their bank account. If the person was a low credit risk, they could be moved onto a 
standard tariff.  

 
16. Local authorities played an important part in the delivery of community energy. Local 

authorities had skills, knowledge, trust and could broker partnerships. They could help to 
support their local communities to identify opportunities to save and generate energy. 

 
 
Conclusions 
The Community Energy Scrutiny Review heard evidence about a number of community energy 
schemes across the country and heard from a variety of witnesses about the various ways in which 
community energy schemes and council schemes could be undertaken. 
The Committee hoped the recommendations would improve community energy work in the borough 
to improve outcomes for residents. 
 
Recommendations 
1. That the council continues to apply for any available funding to undertake energy efficiency 

measures in the borough. 
 
2. That more information on community energy could be provided to councillors, staff and 

tenants and residents’ associations so they could provide residents with information. 
 
3. That work take place to ensure there was a joined up approach between different 

departments dealing with energy issues for residents. 
 
4. That the council should look to provide a retail offering to residents, however, the committee 

did  not feel the council currently had the expertise in-house, and therefore should undertake 

Page 12



 

5 

initial discussions with 'White Label' providers who could run the back office elements of the 
Islington offering. 

 
5.  That any final decision of provider should be based against, council control of tariffs, which 

should include a green tariff, a resident focused debt process, and the long term economic 
sustainability of the company. 

 
6.  That any retail offering should be looked at holistically, with residents encouraged to switch 

tariffs, but also include the installation of smart meters, energy efficiency measures, and 
where possible, community energy generation. This would be more cost-effective, save 
residents more money, and should be done on street by street, estate by estate basis.   

 
7. That the council should do more to encourage community energy and that consideration be 

given to working with an organisation such as Repowering London to provide a community 
energy scheme in Islington, or in-house capacity be found to help schemes get off the 
ground. 

. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

6 

 
 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
COUNCILLORS -  2014/15    COUNCILLORS – 2015/16 
 
Councillors:       Councillors:  
Councillor Court (Chair)    Councillor Court (Chair) 
Councillor Diarmaid Ward (Vice-Chair)  Councillor Diarmaid Ward (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Doolan     Councillor Debono 
Councillor Gantly (until February 2015)  Councillor Doolan 
Councillor Heather     Councillor Hamitocuhe MBE 
Councillor Jeapes     Councillor Heather 
Councillor Russell     Councillor Jeapes 
Councillor Turan     Councillor Russell 
Councillor Nick Ward     Councillor Spall 
 
Substitutes:      Substitutes: 
Councillor Kay      Councillor Diner 
Councillor Michael O’Sullivan    Councillor Kay 
Councillor Alice Perry     Councillor Alice Perry 
Councillor Rupert Perry    Councillor Poyser 
Councillor Shaikh 
Councillor Smith 
Councillor Wayne 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Acknowledgements:   The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to 
the review. 
 
 
Officer Support:    
Zoe Crane – Democratic Services 
Lucy Padfield – Energy Services Manager 
Andrew Ford, Energy Advice Manager 
Lucy Rees, Energy Adviser 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

7 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Community Energy had emerged relatively recently as a catch-all for a broad range of 
 energy projects and schemes which benefited and involved the community. A community 
 could be an individual school, housing estate or ward, or group of people with a similar 
 interest. 
 
1.2 In the Department of Energy and Climate Change’s (DECC) Community Energy Strategy, 

community energy was defined as “community projects or initiatives focused on the four 
strands of reducing energy use, managing energy better, generating energy or purchasing 
energy. This included communities of place and communities of interest. These projects or 
initiatives shared an emphasis on community ownership, leadership or control where the 
community benefited. It referred to all activities encompassed by the above definition and 
also considered shared ownership or joint ventures where benefits were shared by the 
community. This included activities based on formal community ownership models such as 
co-operatives, social enterprises, community charities, development trusts and community 
interest companies, as well as projects without these formal structures.” 

 
1.3 Community energy projects often focused on social outcomes such as community cohesion, 

reducing fuel poverty and re-investment of profits, as well as an interest in sustainability. 
Schemes to date tended to depend on volunteers and relied heavily on gaining broad 
support within a local community for their activities. Many groups were set up as co-
operatives, community interest companies and charities or trusts. Community energy was 
largely focused on renewable electricity generation, especially solar photovoltaics (PVs) and 
onshore wind. Solar panels worked best when facing south and could not be used when 
facing north. 

 
1.4 Community energy schemes normally sought to use their profits to fund programmes to 

address local social needs through energy efficiency funds or similar. They also often sought 
to support local jobs and training in the green economy. 

 
1.5 Local authorities played an important part in the delivery of community energy. Local 

authorities had skills, knowledge, trust and could broker partnerships. They could help to 
support their local communities to identify opportunities to save and generate energy. 

 
2.   Findings 
 

Previous and Current Work in Islington 
 
2.1 The council had previously carried out specific Community Engagement programmes and 
 learning from these had flagged up a number of possible relevant groups including the 

Better Archway Forum and the Islington Environment Forum. To date, no community groups 
had approached the Energy Team about community energy projects. If a community group 
contacted the council, the Energy Team would try and support them and put them in touch 
with the relevant people. For the past few years there had been no resources to undertake 
community engagement. However, Islington’s Energy Services Team monitored work taking 
place across the UK. The Energy Team was not aware of any Islington residents having 
taken out the Green Deal. 

 
2.2 The council had undertaken energy reduction programmes. In the past, funding had been 
 used for door-knocking, surveys, draught proofing, infra-red surveys to show heat leakage, 
 awareness raising programmes and workshops. The council had also undertaken solid wall 
 insulation. There had also been plans for a wide scale project on roofs but the Feed-In Tariff 

Page 15



 

8 

 changed and made the project unachievable. There were now 20 small schemes on low rise 
 blocks. The national Solar Schools initiative was being tested following an approach for help 
 by an Islington primary school interested in participating in a crowd-funded scheme to install 
 solar PV panels on the school roof. 
 
2.3 The Energy Team acted as consultants to the Housing department, advised them when 
 grants were available and advised on the design of buildings and schemes. Often 
 government grant money came with conditions. The council successfully bid for £6.5m 
 between six boroughs. The funding required owner occupiers to contribute to work on their 
 properties and they could apply for Green Deal finance to assist with this. Although this 
 funding could only be used for owner occupied properties, the council combined the grant 
 with other grants to do work on whole blocks as this was cost effective. 
 
2.4 Landlords did not always invest in making their properties more energy efficient. The 
 council’s housing department had a health and safety rating system with 29 measures 
 including cold, damp and mould checks. The environmental health team conducted spot 
 checks and residents could also contact them to request a visit. If the property was found to 
 be inadequate, the landlord could be required to deal with the problem within a specified 
 time period. If they did not do this, the council could do the work and then charge the  
 landlord for the work. 
 
2.5 Energy schemes were generally carried out in line with the energy hierarchy i.e. firstly, 

reducing energy; secondly, insulating homes; and thirdly, generating energy. The most 
energy efficient was council housing, followed by social housing, then owner occupied 
housing and then private rented housing. Most council housing was flats which were 
generally more energy efficient than houses due to there being fewer roofs. 

 
2.6 Barriers to people having work done included not wanting strangers in their homes, being 

unwilling to clear their lofts for insulating work and being unwilling to go through the 
disruption associated with work taking place in their homes. 

 
2.7 Condensation could create a problem because people would open windows to deal with the 

condensation and then have to turn up their heating due to the heat loss out of the windows. 
To solve the problem of condensation, it was important to understand the cause. It could be 
a result of breathing, cooking, the design of buildings, especially those not designed for 
modern heating systems, or structural issues e.g. pathways over rooms on the Andover 
Estate. 

 
2.8 It was important to ensure there was a joined up approach between different departments. 
 
Options for Councils 
 
2.9 Roles local authorities could play included providing funding and/or assets e.g. roofs for 

installations. 
• Delivery options included: 

Council options –  
1) Council investment – all council-owned roofs 

If the council installed PV panels on all council owned housing and corporate buildings it 
would cost in the region of £38m for a 12 year return on investment. The council would 
save through bill savings and would receive income from the government’s Feed-in Tariff 
(FIT). It could be argued that council-led schemes were not community energy schemes. 
If all the homes in the council’s stock were able to be directly supplied by the panels then 
each household would save around £40 per year on their electricity bills, assuming all 
the power generated could be used instantaneously and that all homes could be 

Page 16



 

9 

physically connected. Generally schemes on social housing were connected in to the 
landlord supply. 
 

2) “Rent a Roof” PV schemes 
The council did not necessarily have to invest funds as there were several offers for 
“free” rent a roof PV schemes where the installer received the Feed-In Tariff and 
installed the panels at no charge to the council. The council would then benefit from 
reduced price electricity. This could be incorporated into Housing’s re-roofing 
programme. 
 

3) Community Energy options – 
Community Energy was a fast changing environment with regular developments. Current 
activity included: 
1. Social Inclusion focussed schemes. Repowering (Brixton and Hackney) was an 

example of a PV Local Share Offer in relation to Social Housing – Social Housing 
scheme whereby PV was installed on housing stock for £40,000 and residents were 
engaged. Residents could not benefit from the generated electricity directly. The 
capital cost for the PV was raised through a share offer. Much of the funding was 
raised beyond the local area and across the UK. A PV Local Share Offer in relation to 
Housing/Schools was Gen community (backed by British Gas). 

2. Schemes to help address fuel poverty. Cornwall, Kirklees and Camden had revolving 
loan funds for energy efficiency measures which were re-invested in further energy 
efficiency measures. This required a large initial investment, however the benefit to 
addressing fuel poverty was likely to be the greatest. 

3. Schemes to support community groups. Bristol and Plymouth had seed funds to start 
community schemes. These required a large initial investment. Bath and North East 
Somerset Council had a Cooperation Agreement with Bath and North East Somerset 
Council to help deliver their carbon reduction targets. Bulk buy schemes could be 
used by communities working together to get a discount on energy efficiency 
measures by buying in bulk. These would only benefit those who were able to invest 
in energy efficiency measures. 

4. Other options. OVOs were Virtual Energy Companies. A local authority could use 
OVO’s energy supply licence to offer a unique tariff for local renewable generation. 
There was a risk that the tariff would not be the cheapest on the market. Nottingham 
intended to buy an existing Energy Services Company (ESCo) which already had a 
licence to retail to the domestic market and sell the electricity generated by their 
waste incinerator. Nottingham County Council had committed £1million to the 
procurement and expected to spend many more millions to progress the project. 
Cambridge planned to deliver a programme of energy saving building retrofits in 
Council buildings (including schools) through support and loans. Bristol intended for 
its ESCo to be self-funding after initial set up costs and intended to provide a revenue 
stream for the city focusing on solar, district heating and retrofit. There was a large 
investment and time requirement. Lancashire County Council was trialling investing 
their pension fund in large scale community energy. 

 
2.10 The Committee could consider the outcomes it wanted to achieve e.g. social inclusion, 

energy saving, community engagement or employment opportunities, in order to decide on 
the most appropriate approach. 

 
2.11 It was not possible for schemes e.g. solar projects to directly provide energy for the 

residents of the buildings due to the significant costs of obtaining a licence. Instead the 
energy fed into the national grid and money would be given through the Feed-In Tariff. This 
was not the case with non-domestic buildings which were dealt with under different 
regulations. Council schemes were not classed as community energy and therefore the 

Page 17



 

10 

energy could go into the landlord’s supply which could result in a decrease in service 
charges. 

 
 
National Programmes 
 
2.12 The Community Energy Strategy was launched on 27 January 2014. It was the UK’s first 
 ever Community Energy Strategy. It aimed to enable anyone who wanted to get involved 
 with generation, managing, purchasing or reducing energy to do so. 
 
2.13 Key announcements for this year included a £10m Urban Community Energy Fund, a One 
 Stop Shop and a Community Energy Saving Competition for community group schemes. 
 There was no limit to the number community groups in a borough which could receive 
 funding. It was anticipated that the One Stop Shop would simplify and improve the 
 information available to community groups. 

 
2.14 The evidence was Forum for the Future’s response to the Department of Energy and 
 Climate Change’s Consultation on Cutting the Cost of Keeping Warm: a New Fuel Poverty 
 Strategy for England. The document outlined the resources community groups would need. 
 These included the provision of clear and accurate information, access to training providers 
 and advice and resources for marketing campaigns. Typically resources came from local 
 authorities.  
 

OVO Energy 

2.15 OVO was an independent energy supplier which was launched in 2009 and had 440,000 
customers. It aimed to have 1 million customers by 2017. It was the 10th fastest growing 
company in the UK. OVO’s mission was to be the UK’s most trusted energy supplier. It had 
a high customer satisfaction level, offered competitive pricing and had won a number of 
awards. 

 

2.16 The energy supply market was transforming. In 1997 the ‘Big Six’ energy suppliers shared 
almost 100% of the market, In Autumn 2014, independent suppliers had a 9% market share 
and the Citibank prediction was for independent suppliers to have a 30% share of the market 
by 2020. Councils could use collective switching to reduce energy bills in their borough. 
Approximately two thirds of households did not switch and often overpaid significantly when 
compared with the cheapest prices. Many of these householders were on low incomes and 
were vulnerable and often they did not switch as they had a mistrust of energy companies 
and/or did not know how to switch. Local authorities could reach these customers because 
they were trusted and could engage people through unique channels. Many Islington 
residents could save up to £300 by switching and customers who used prepayment meters 
could also save. 

 

2.16 If local councils became energy suppliers this could ensure people and businesses paid a 
fair price for their energy; it could integrate with other energy activities (e.g. energy 
efficiency, renewable generation and community energy) and maximise their value and it 
could be self-financing and potentially income generating. 

 

2.17 Councils could become energy suppliers using OVO’s supply licence and back office 
functions. OVO would act as a platform and councils could choose to migrate from the 
platform to have a full supply licence. OVO could provide a supply licence and provide 
services such as customer service and a billing service and the council’s responsibilities 

Page 18



 

11 

would include setting the price, designing the tariff and acquiring customers. All customer 
facing services could be branded as council partner or co-branded. OVO services could be 
provided at cost plus a 3% margin and there would be no set up costs. Operational costs 
were fixed but the cost of energy fluctuated so the tariff could be changed at a tariff review 
meeting each month or could be changed less regularly i.e. up to every three months. 

 

2.18 This service was only available to councils, social housing providers and community groups. 
The model was independent from national policy and was strongly supported by 
government. OVO would launch one partnership per month from March 2015. The first 
partnerships would be with Cheshire East Council, Peterborough City Council and 
Southend-on-Sea. OVO had 300 potential partners, 150 of which were councils. 

 

2.19 OVO planned to be at the forefront of the move to smart meters which provided better, real-
time data, smarter homes and enabled more customer engagement as well as flexible 
payments. OVO would remove prepayment meters from those who signed up and were 
currently using them and replace these with smart meters. These could be used in a similar 
way to prepayment meters or could be topped up using a phone if the resident had set up a 
link to their bank account. If the person was a low credit risk, they could be moved onto a 
standard tariff.  

 

2.20 The lead in time for setting up a scheme with OVO was two months. Councils signed up for 
a five year contract and residents signed up for one year. OVO would manage debt 
collection and the liability of debt would sit with them. The cost of managing the debt would 
be included in the tariff. Energy companies could only offer four tariffs but Ofgem had given 
OVO an exemption so each partner could set its own four tariffs with one of these at a 
variable rate. It was possible that a subsidised tariff could be set up for vulnerable residents 
and another for those willing to pay a premium to benefit the community.  Councils could 
register void properties to receive a council energy supply. 

 

2.21 OVO had passed the Energy Companies Obligation threshold which meant it had to spend a 
certain amount of money on energy efficiency improvements which met certain criteria. It 
would spend this money with partners. 

 

2.22 The energy supplied by energy companies contained on average 15% renewable energy. 
OVO’s target was 30%. OVO helped support and supply local zero carbon power and 
reduce bills. If the council generated energy e.g. solar energy of CHP, this could be used in 
the supply of energy. 

 
Repowering London 
 
2.23 Repowering was a not-for-profit co-operative which specialised in co-producing community 

owned renewable energy, mentoring and fuel poverty. It was a community benefit society 
which delivered social outcomes and it was registered with the Financial Conduct Authority.  

 
2.24 Repowering work included: 

- reducing CO2 emissions by generating decentralised low-carbon energy 

- tackling fuel poverty and educating residents about energy efficiency 

- promoting local leadership through community engagement and ownership 

- providing opportunities for local and responsible financial investment 
- creating training, internships and employment opportunities for local people 

- encouraging behaviour change 

Page 19



 

12 

 
2.25 Repowering’s vision was to create resilient, empowered communities that controlled and 

owned the generation and usage of renewable energy and to promote and facilitate the wide 
scale development and local ownership of renewable energy projects across London. 

 
2.26 The services provided by Repowering included technical, financial, legal and administrative 

expertise needed to deliver projects. It also offered a range of guidance, advisory and 
project management services. It provided access to a network of potential investors to assist 
the financial backing for a community-owned renewable energy project and it specialised in 
community engagement. A 20 year lease to the co-operative was required to ensure 
longevity and payback. Management costs were built into the project costs. However these 
could be reduced by the community taking on a management role. 

 
2.27 £165 million left Islington each year in energy bill payments and £13 billion left London each 

year. Repowering had installed 500 kilowatts peak (kWp) of community owned renewable 
energy, saving almost 200 tonnes of CO2 per annum. It had delivered a series of energy 
advice sessions, community events, home energy audits and energy surveys. Many people 
did not know how to claim fuel poverty credits. Door knocking was used to engage residents. 
Specific programmes were held for the unemployed, young people and to upskill 
professionals. Under the Repowering scheme, the community invested in the renewable 
energy co-operative and the co-operative installed new renewable energy on local buildings. 
The technology generated an income which was used to pay into a community energy 
efficiency fund, an annual dividend for shareholders and covered the administration costs. 
Each investor had one vote. 

 
2.28 Individuals who had invested received a return on their investment. There were no direct 

savings on energy bills from the energy produced. Energy bills could be reduced by energy 
switching and draught-proofing. Draught-proofing resulted in a 40% reduction in energy bills.  

 
2.29 95% of funding for projects was raised from local people within 1½ miles from the scheme. If 

shareholders wanted to sell their shares, they sold them back to the co-operative rather than 
transferred them to another individual as the shares were non-transferable and could not be 
sold on the open market. If community engagement dropped below a certain level, door 
knocking would be increased to engage and consult the community. 
 

2.30 Intermediaries did not generate energy so they had to buy it. Repower could work with 
intermediaries to provide energy. There were a number of intermediaries Repower could 
work with and the options were being considered. 

 
2.31 Repower had run a course for residents on how to use their boilers. This was run in 

community centres and if residents preferred, they would be visited in their homes to be 
shown how to use their boilers. 

 
2.32 The council could be a shareholder of a community energy co-operative. Investors included 

tenant management organisations (TMOs), councils and local residents. Repowering’s first 
social enterprise scheme was in Brixton and investment just came from local residents. 
Stakeholders included schools, installation companies, residents and the council. Inputs 
included project management, financial modelling, community engagement, legal and IT 
expertise, public relations and marketing. Outcomes were related to wellbeing. 

 
2.33 Lambeth Council had funded a community energy officer for a two year programme to 

increase energy resilience and security. Although the council provided the funding for the 
officer, the scheme was not a council run scheme. It collaborated with a not for profit 
organisation called Repowering London. There were three community-owned solar projects 
on social housing estates in Brixton and this was the first inner city scheme of its kind. 

Page 20



 

13 

£180,000 had been raised from the local community and there was a £50,000 community 
fund. 10 apprenticeships had been set up for young people from estates.  

 
2.34 The programmes undertaken in Brixton allowed people to invest in their community. 

Residents were consulted and then a programme was delivered in line with the consultation 
results. A solar energy project had taken place on Banister Estate, Hackney. This estate had 
15 blocks, all with flat roofs. There were 340 residents. Repowering did not just undertake 
solar projects and other renewable projects could be undertaken. There were many 
buildings in Islington where solar panels could be installed. Projects on bigger estates were 
the most effective. 

 
2.35 Barriers to community energy schemes included the Financial Conduct Authority changing 

the way it dealt with co-operatives and changes to the distribution of funding through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

 
2.36 Hackney Council had provided £40,000 seed funding plus officer time and procurement 

advice for a community energy pilot on an estate. The chosen estate had an active Tenants’ 
and Residents’ Association and the scheme was installed at the same time as a roof 
renewal programme. The scheme resulted in community development and cohesion. As part 
of the last project, 15 young people had been given internships and had then gone on to full 
time employment or education. Hackney had a long term community energy strategy which 
included a link to health and wellbeing work. 

 
 
Plymouth Energy Community 
 
2.37 Plymouth Energy Community was a cooperative formed in 2013. It was owned and run by its 

members. It aimed to negotiate a better price for energy for local people; address the 
challenges of fuel poverty, including for those on the lowest incomes; increase renewable 
energy in Plymouth; provide advice on energy issues; and reinvest its profits locally. 

 
2.38 Plymouth Energy Community aimed to get the best deal through a group switch. Work was 

done with energy suppliers to achieve the best deal for customers. All participants were 
offered the best deal for them individually. The process was managed by a broker who was 
independently assessed for ethics and transparency. Beneficial offers were provided for all 
meters, including prepayment meter users and support was provided for people in debt. 

 
2.39 In the future, Plymouth Energy Community would continue to negotiate better electricity and 

gas deals, it would continue to offer advice on any energy efficiency grants available, there 
would be opportunities for the community to invest in solar energy on community buildings 
and other initiatives could be undertaken subject to demand. 

 
 
Nottingham City Council 
 
2.40 Nottingham had a long history in municipal energy. It had a district heating scheme in 1970s 

and was now one of the more energy sufficient cities with high local generation. There was 
large scale photovoltaic solar installation with 2,300 homes equipped with solar panels over 
the last three years. The council paid for, installed and maintained the solar panels and 
retained the feed-in tariff with the residents getting electricity. The scheme included both 
social housing and private sector housing. 

 
2.41 Nottingham City Council would be extending the solar panel scheme to 3,000 additional 

homes from 2015. Once this was complete, 5,300 out of approximately 150,000 homes in 
the city would have solar panels. Whereas the feed-in tariff for the first 2,300 homes had 

Page 21



 

14 

been secured when it was at the highest rate, the feed-in tariff for the next 3,000 homes 
would be at the lower rate. Nottingham City Council had set up an in-house installation team 
of accredited installers. This reduced costs and created jobs. Most of the homes with solar 
panels were three bedroom semi-detached houses. Lower income areas were targeted. The 
first solar panel scheme in Nottingham outperformed by £120,000 per year and the 
additional money went into the council’s general fund. Following this scheme, it was decided 
that more panels should be put on each roof. 

 
2.42 In Nottingham, 12% of the energy demand was met from Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 

and 3% was met from a waste plant. The district heating scheme included a council office 
building, offices, a hotel, an apartment block, a concert venue and a biosite. The scheme 
provided a more secure supply than the national grid would. There were four means of 
supplying buildings and many were willing to pay a premium for this. The district heating 
scheme was controlled by the council and run as a limited company. 

 
2.43 There was a new energy park in Nottingham and planning consent had been given for a 

160,000 tonne gasification plant. This could as much as double Nottingham’s energy 
generation capacity. Other councils paid Nottingham to take their rubbish and Nottingham 
had a large commercial waste business. Waste disposal costs were minimal. Emissions 
were monitored. 

 
2.44 To reduce fuel poverty, Nottingham City Council set up a fully licensed energy company by 

buying a pre-accredited licensed company. This was quicker to set up than if the council set 
up the company itself. The council had approved the first year’s operating costs of £11 
million. The company had to use the national grid and pay transmission and distribution 
costs as it only had one block with private wire and extending this would be too expensive. 
The cost model showed that Nottingham’s energy company was likely to be one of the 
cheapest suppliers on the market. Nottingham had found a meter asset provider who would 
enable the council to rent or pay for the use of smart meters and a smart meter pre-payment 
system would be put in place. Pre-payment smart meters were being installed and those in 
fuel debt were signposted to advice centres and were helped to manage their debt. 
Nottingham would not sell debts to debt collection agency. The first three stages of debt 
collection were undertaken by the council and if these were not successful, a debt collection 
agency would be used, although the council would retain control. A fixed fee would be 
agreed for each stage and there would be an agreed set of principles.  
 

2.45 In the first year, Nottingham had 50,000 customers, in the second year the figure rose to 
150,000 and in the third year it was 250,000. Although Nottingham City Council would trigger 
ECO Energy Company Obligations once it reached the criteria for this, this would provide 
the local authority with the opportunity to invest. 

 
2.46 Nottingham would become the first local authority energy company. Most of the day-to-day 

running of Nottingham’s Energy Services Company was undertaken in-house and six 
managers managed the project. At the moment, Nottingham was undertaking controlled 
market entry. This meant a small number of customers were being taken on to prove the 
processes worked. In October 2015, this would be rolled out. Other councils could use 
Nottingham’s white label offer. Nottingham could provide four tariffs and the other council 
could label and promote them to residents. Nottingham had spent £1.5m on systems to 
enable this to happen and for other councils to capitalise on the work Nottingham had done. 
This approach would also create local jobs e.g. call centres, when the number of residents 
using this supply reached a certain volume. 

 
2.47 Switching to the Nottingham supplier saved a typical household £200 per year. The council 

had a tool on its website so potential customers could see how much they could save by 
switching. 

Page 22



 

15 

 
 
3.   Conclusion 
 
3.1 The Community Energy Scrutiny Review heard evidence about a number of  community 

energy schemes across the country and heard from a variety of witnesses about the various 
ways in which community energy schemes and council schemes could be undertaken. 

 
3.2 The Committee hoped the recommendations would improve community energy work in the 

borough to improve outcomes for residents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

16 

 

APPENDIX –  SCRUTINY INITIATION DOCUMENT 

 

SCRUTINY REVIEW INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID)  DRAFT 

Review: Community Energy 

Scrutiny Review Committee: Environment and Regeneration 

Director leading the Review: Kevin O’Leary 

Lead Officer: Lucy Padfield 

Overall aim: 
 
To explore and understand the community energy options available for Islington, their 
respective opportunities and issues, and make recommendations on their relevance for the 
borough.  

Objectives of the review: 

• To understand the benefits and risks to Islington of the different community energy 
models 

• To learn from examples of established projects in other councils and communities 
across the UK. 

• To specifically understand the overarching theme of their impact on fuel poverty and 
energy efficiency. 

Page 24



 

17 

Scope of the Review 
 
Types of evidence will be assessed by the review:  
 
1. The proposed suggested structure of the witness evidence is as follows: 
 
October - Introduction and overview: 

Written evidence in advance – Setting the scene 

DECC community Energy Strategy (awaiting response) – Presentation by external speaker 

 
November or December -  Impact on fuel poverty and energy efficiency improvement: 

Forum for the Future (agreed to speak however time TBA) – Research findings on role of community 

Energy in alleviating fuel poverty. 

Community Engagement (in Islington) – Andrew Ford OR Camden? 

 
December or February- Energy supply and resilience: 
OVO Energy and/or one of their Local Authority partners (to be approached) 
 
March - Ownership, funding and revenue structures of potential schemes: 

Crowd funding – Julia Grove (to be approached) – Presentation by external speaker 

Finance and Legal – Owen Darracott and Ramani Chelliah, LBI 

 

2. Suggest visits to – 

• Bristol - CSE – Bristol Community Energy and possibly also Bristol City Council  (TBC) – 

Setting up an ESCo and seed funding for community energy projects (December) 
• Hackney or Repowering London - contribution of the Repowering London model to skills, job 

creation and economic growth in the borough (Jan/Feb)  

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 
ENVIRONMENT AND REGENERATION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

2015/2016 
 

 
 
 
1 February 2016 
Smart Cities – Witness Evidence – Emma Marinos and Sally Millett, Islington Council 
CCTV – Witness Evidence 
Community Energy - Final Report 
 
1 March 2016 
Smart Cities – Draft Report 
CCTV – Draft Report 
 
25 April 2016 
Smart Cities – Final Report 
CCTV – Final Report 

 
 

 
Date To Be Confirmed 
Community Infrastructure Levy – Presentation 
Executive Member annual presentation 
 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item B4



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	B3 Community Energy Scrutiny Review - Final Report
	B4 Work Programme

